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HB 21

House Bill 21 may very be the first step to more positive political campaigns. Presently, a 
candidate running for office, or a group proposing an initiative can be the subject of negative 
advertising and sometime even lies. HB 21 will establish an administrative process to counteract 
false attacks in a timely manner.

Under existing law, a false damaging statement in a political advertisement can only be 
countered with a response, often times along the same lines. Legally the only recourse is to file a 
civil suit. Because of the backlog in the courts it may be months after the election before the 
complaint is even heard.

With the passage of HB 21, a candidate or group victimized by false advertising will be able file 
a complaint with 'he Alaska Public Offices Commission (APOC). By filling out a form, and 
providing proof that the statement is false APOC must respond in an expedited manner. The 
panel will be able to hold hearings and may fine the offending campaign or individual.

HB 21 will cause a candidate or group to consider more closely what they say in their advertising 
campaigns. Alaskans want the truth about the candidates and issues before they go to the polls 
just like they do when they purchase a commercial product or service. HB 21 will show our 
constituents that we, as elected officials, agree.

Representative_Jay_Ramras yiegis.state.ak.us
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HOUSE BILL NO. 21

IN THE LEGISLATURE OF THE S TATE OF ALASKA

T W E N T Y -F O U R T H  L E G IS L A T U R E  - F IR S T  SE SS IO N
BY REPRESENT AI IVES RAMRAS, Wilson
Introduced: 1/10/05
Referred: Slate Affairs, Judiciary

A B IL L

F O R  AN A C T  E N T IT L E D

" A n  Act re la t in g  to fa lse s ta te m e n ts  in s ta te  election ad v e r t is in g ;  a n d  p ro v id in g  fo r  an 

effective d a te ."

BE IT  E N A C T E D  BY T H E  L E G I S L A T U R E  O F  T H E  S T A T E  O F  A L A S K A :

* Section  1. AS 15 . 13 is amended by adding a new section to read:
Sec. 1 5 .1 3 .0 9 2 . False s ta te m e n ts  in election ad v e r t is in g ,  (a ) A person may 

not make a fa lse statement in election advertising now ledge that the statement is

(b ) In an adm inistrative complaint under AS 15.13.380 a lleg ing a v io la tion  o f
(a ) o f  this section, the complainant shall

f a l s e r  w ith a reckless disregard fo r whether o r not the statement is false

( 1 ) identify with specificity the name o f  the respondent who made the 
fa lse statement in election advertising;

( 2 )  attach re levant evidence to support the a llegation that the statement
is fa lse ; and

( 3 )  ve rify  under oath o r a ffirm ation  before a person authorized by law

11130021:1 - I -
N ew  T e x t  U n d e r l i n e d  [ D E L E T E D  T E X T  B R A C K E T E D ]

H U  21



24-LSOI53\A

to take the person's oath o r a fllrm a tion  that the complainant has read the complaint 
and be lieves its contents to be true.

(c )  I f  the person who dissem inates the fa lse statement is not the maker o f  the 
fa lse statement, the person who dissem inates the statement vio lates (a ) o f  this section 
on ly  i f  the person had actual know ledge that the statement was fa lse before 
d issem inating the statement.

(d ) A print o r broadcast medium by means o f  which the e lection advertising is 
made is not liab le fo r damages caused by the distribution o f  fa lse in form ation unless 
the owners o f  the print o r broadcast medium knew o r had reason to know  the 
in form ation  distributed was false.

(c ) In this section, "e lection advertising" means an announcement o r 
advertisement that is disseminated through print o r broadcast media, including radio, 
te lev ision , cable, and satellite , the Internet, o r  through a mass m ailing , the principal 
purpose o f  which is to influence the outcome o f

( 1 )  the election o f  a candidate; o r
( 2 )  an election c ncem ing a ba llo t p roposition ; n this paragraph, 

"p roposition " has the meaning given in AS 15 .1 3 .0 6 5 (c ).
Sec. 2 . Th is Act takes e ffect immediate ly under A S  0 1 .10 .070 (c ).

21 -2 -
New  T e x t  U n d e r l i n e d  [ D E L E T E D  T E X T  B R A C K E T E D 1
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M E M O
To: Representative 

Fm: Jim Pound, Chief of

Cc:

Date: January 10, 2005, 11:54 AM

Re: Request for hearing of HB 21_______________________________________________________

Please accept this Memo as a request for the House Committee to hear HB 21 “An Act
relating to false statements in state election advertising; and providing for an effective date.” HB 
21 will allow a political candidate or group that is the subject of false advertising to seek a 
remedy in an exp 'itcd manner through 'he administrative process.

Thank you in advance for scheduling HB 21 before the House Committee.

Attachments: Sponsor! lemcnt, HB 21, AS 15.13.065(c), AS 15.13.380, FTC Policy 
Statement on Deception

The information contained in this memo is CONFIDENTIAL and/or privileged. This memo is intended to be 
reviewed initially by only the individual named above. I f  the reader o f this page is not the intended recipient or a 
representative o f the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any review, dissemination, or copying o f this 
memo or the information contained herein is prohibited. I f  you have received this memo in error, please 
immediately notify the sender by telephone and return this memo to the sender at the above address.

Thank you
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M E M O R A N D U M Jan u a ry  27. 2005

S U B J E C T : C onsti tu t ionali ty  o f  HB 21 (W o rk  O rd e r  No. 2 4 -L S 0 1 5 3 \A )

T O : R epresen ta t ive  Paul Seaton 
Attn: L ou ie  Flora

F R O M : Barbara  R. C ra v e r^ g K ?/'  
L egis la tive  C o u n s d O _ > — '

Y ou have asked  about any  consti tu tiona l issues ra ised  by HB 21 w hich  concerns  false 
s ta tem en ts  in politica l c am p a ig n  co m m u n ica t io n s .  In m y opin ion , this bill raises 
consti tu tiona l issues  in regard  to the cu r ta ilm ent o f  free speech , par ticu larly  in regard  to 
false s ta tem en ts  in political adve rt is ing  regard ing  initiatives. W hile  there is no  A laska 
law on this topic o r  con tro l l ing  federal law, there is a case  from  W ash ing ton  state that 
ra ises red flags, pa r ticu la r ly  re la ting  to proh ib it ing  false sta tem ents  in regard  to ballot 
m easures .

In the W a sh in g to n  case  the h ighest court in that s tate found  that the first am en d m en t  o f  
the U nited  S ta tes C o ns ti tu t ion  pro tec ted  a m alic ious false s ta tem en t o f  m aterial fact m ade 
in political advertis ing . Stale ex rel. Publ i c Di scl osure Comm'n  v. 1 19 Vole S o !  Comm., 
9 57  P .2d 691 (W ash .,  1998). T he  court found that R C W  42.17 .530(1  )(a)' was 
unconsti tu tiona l on  its face. T h e  State a lleged  that the "119 Vote N o!" com m ittee

' R C W  4 2 .1 7 .5 3 0  provides:

False political adve rt is ing  (1) It is a v iolation o f  this ch ap te r  for  a 
person  to sp o n so r  with actual malice:
(a) Political ad ve rt is ing  that con ta ins  a false s ta tem ent o f  material

(b) Political adve rt is ing  that falsely represents  that a cand ida te  is 
the in cu m b en t fo r  the off ice  sought when in fact the cand ida te  is 
not the in cu m b en t,
(c) Political advertis ing  that m akes c ither d irec tly  o r  indirectly , a 
false c la im  sta ting  o r  im p ly ing  the support o r  en d o rsem en t  o f  any 
person  o r  o rg an iza t io n  w hen  in fact the cand ida te  does  not have 
such  support  o r  en d o rsem en t.
(2) A n y  vio la tion  o f  this section shall be p roven  by c lea r  and 
co n v in c in g  ev idence.

fact;



published political advertising that violated the Washington law. Basically, the court 
found that the first amendment provided its broadest protection to speech in political 
campaigns.2 This case involved allegedly false statements in regard to an initiative, and 
the court found that free speech was particularly chilled in this case involving an 
initiative:

Ultimately, the Sriite's claimed compelling interest to shield the public 
from falsehoods during a political campaign is patronizing and 
paternalistic. It assumes the people of this state are too ignorant or 
disinterested to investigate, learn, and determine for themselves the truth 
or falsity in political debate, and it is the proper role of the government

Representative Paul Seaton

January 27, 2005

Page 2

2 The court opinion said:

The constitutional guarantee of free speech has its "fullest and most urgent 
application" in political campaigns. Brown v. Hart/age, 456 U.S. 45, 53, 
102 S. Ct. 1523, 71 L. Ed. 2d 732 (19S2) (quoting Monitor Patriot Co. v. 
Roy. 401 U.S. 265, 271-72, 91 S. Ct. 621. 28 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1971)). 
Therefore, the State bears a "well-nigh insurmountable" burden to justify 
RCW 42.17.530's restriction on political speech. Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 
414. 425, 108S. Ct. 1886, 100 L. Ed. 2d 425 (1988). This burden requires 
the court to apply "exacting scrutiny" to RCW 42.17.530(1 )(a). Meyer, 
486 U.S. at 420. See also Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. I, 39, 96, S. Ct. 612, 
46 L  Ed. 2d 659 (1976). Exacting scrutiny will invalidate the statute 
unless the Stale demonstrates a compelling interest that is both narrowly 
tailored and necessary. McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comtn'n. 514 U.S. 
334. 347, 115 S. Ct. 1511. 1519. 131 L  Ed. 2d 426 (1995); Burson v. 
Freeman. 504 U.S. 191, 198, 112 S. Ct. 1846. 119 L. Ed 2d 5 (1992). 
Such burdens are rarely met. Burson, 504 U.S. at 199-20c. Ino Ino, Inc. v. 
City o f Bellevue, 132 Wash. 2d 103, 114, 937 P.2d 154 (1997) ("The State 
bcais the burden of justifying a restriction on speech."). . . . RCW 
42.17.530(I)(a) infringes on speech protected by the First Amendment 
Uninhibited speech ’"is the single mort important element upon which this 
nation has thrived. " Nelson v. McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., 131 Wash. 
2d 523, 536, 936 P.2d 1123 (quoting Guzick v. Drebus, 305 F. Supp. 472, 
481 (N.D. Ohio 1969), affd, 431 F.2d 594 (6th Cir. 1970), cert, denied. 
401 U.S. 948, 91 S. Ct. 941, 28 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1971)), cert, denied, 118 S. 
Ct. 175, 139 L. Ed. 2d 117 (1997). Free speech is revered as the 
"Constitution's majestic guarantee," central to the preservation of all other 
rights. Id. at 536. Advocacy of one's political views through Icafleting 
lies at the very core of our First Amendment freedoms. McIntyre, 514 
U.S. at 346-47; Meyer. 486 U.S. at 421-22.

State ex rel. Public Disclosure Comtn'n v. 119 Vote No! Comm., 957 P.2d 6 9 1 , 
6 9 4  - 6 9 3 .



itself to fill the void. This assumption is especially flawed in cases like 
this where the truth of the assertion may be readily tested against the text 
of the initiative.

State ex rel. Public Disclosure Comm'n v. 119 Vote No! Comm., 957 P.2d 691, 699 
(citations omitted). Three judges concurred with the court’s decision but on different 
grounds. Two of those judges (Justices Guy and Talmadge) declared that the committee 
that had made the political advertisement did not violate the law, but also found that the 
law did not violate the first amendment. Id., 633; 636 - 658. One of the three (Justice 
Madsen) wrote a concurrence to say that the first amendment definitely protected false 
statements in regard to initiatives, hut that same protection might not extend to deliberate 
falsehoods about candidates. Id. at 633.

This case is not controlling in Alaska, and numerous commentators have taken exception 
to this case, but it still stands, and illustrates that some caution is warranted.

By contrast, an Ohio law prohibiting false statements in political advertising was upheld 
by the Sixth Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals. The Ohio law allowed the Ohio 
Elections Commission to make findings regarding allegedly false statements and to refer 
a violation for prosecution. Pestrak v. Ohio Elections Com., 926 F.2d 573, 1991 U.S. 
App. LEXIS 3151 (6th Cir. 1991). This case was denied certiorari by the U. S. Supreme 
Court in 1991, and has not been overruled in the Sixth Circuit. This case was cited by 
Justice Talmadge in his comprehensive "concurring"1 opinion in the Washington case.4

If I may be of further assistance, plearc advise.

BRCmed
05-057.med

Representative Paul Seaton

January 27, 2005

Page 3

1 Justice Talmadge concurred with (he dismissal of the case against the committee, but 
disagreed completely on the legal grounds for doing so, arguing that the Washington law 
was not unconstitutional on its face.

4 State ex rel. Public Disclosure Comm'n v. 119 Vote No! Comm., 957 P.2d 691, 649, n
3.



Sec 15.13.065. Contributions.

(c) Except for reports required by AS 15.13.040 and 15.13.110 and except for the requirements 
of AS 15.13.050, 15.13.060, and 15.13.112- 15.13.114, the provisions o f AS 15.13.010- 
15.13.116 do not apply to limit the authority of a person to make contributions to influence the 
outcome of a ballot proposition. In this subsection, in addition to its meaning in AS 15.60.010, 
"proposition" includes an issue placed on a ballot to determine whether
(1) a constitutional convention shall be called;
(2) a debt shall be contracted;
(3) an advisory question shall be approved or rejected; or
(4) a municipality shall be incorporated.
History
(§ 9 ch 48 SLA 1996; am § 7 ch 1 SLA 2002)
Annotations

Administrative Code. - For campaign disclosure, see 2 AAC 50, art. 2.

Sec. 15.60.010. Definitions.
Statute text
In this title, unless the context otherwise requires,

(25) "proposition" means an initiative, referendum, or constitutional amendment submitted at an 
election to the public for vote;

AK Statutory 
Language



See. 1 5 .1 3 .3 8 0 . V io la t io n s ; lim ita tion s on  actions.
Statute text
(a ) P rom p tly  a fte r the fin a l date fo r  f i lin g  statements and reports unde r this chapter, the 
com m iss ion  sh a ll n o tify  a ll persons w ho  have becom e de linquent in f i lin g  them , includ ing 
con tribu to rs w ho fa ile d  to  f i le  a statement in accordance w ith A S  1 5 .1 3 .0 4 0 , and sha ll make 
ava ilab le  a list o f  those de linquent f i le rs  fo r  pub lic  inspection. T he com m iss io n  sha ll a lso  report 
to the attorney genera l the names o f  a ll candidates in an e lec tion  w hose cam paign treasurers have 
fa iled  to f i le  the reports requ ired  by th is chapter.
(b ) A  m em ber o f  the com m iss ion , the com m iss ion ’s execu tive d ire c to r, o r  a person w ho be lieves 
a v io la tion  o f  th is chapter o r  a regu la tion  adopted under this coup le r has occu rred  o r is occu rring  
m ay f i le  an adm in istra tive com p la in t w ith the com m iss ion  w ithin one yea r a fte r the date o f  the 
a lleged  v io la t ion . I f  a m em ber o f  the com m iss ion  has filed  the com p la in t, that m em ber m ay not 
participate as a com m iss ion e r in any p roceed ing  o f  the com m iss ion  w ith respect to the 
com p la in t. T he com m iss ion  m ay con s id e r a com p la in t on an exped ited  basis o r  a regu la r basis.
(c ) The com p la inan t o r  the respondent to the com p la in t m ay request in w riting  that the 
com m iss ion  exped ite  conside ration  o f  the com p la in t. A  request f o r  exped ited  consideration  m u s t . 
be accom panied by  ev idence to support exped ited consideration  and be se rved  on the opposing 
party . The com m iss ion  sha ll grant o r deny the request w ithin tw o days a fte r rece iv ing  it. In 
decid ing whether to exped ite conside ra tion , the com m iss ion  sha ll con s id e r such factors as 
whether the a lleg ed  v io la t io n , i f  not im m ed ia te ly  restrained , cou ld  m a te ria lly  a ffec t the outcom e 
o f  an e lec tion  o r o th e r im pending even t; whether the a lleged  v io la t io n  c ou ld  cause irreparab le 
harm  that penalties cou ld  not adequate ly  rem edy ; and whether there is reasonab le  cause to 
be lieve that a v io la t io n  has occu rred  o r  w ill occur. N otw ithstand ing the absence o f  a request to 
exped ite conside ra tion , the com m iss ion  may independently exped ite conside ra tion  o f  the 
com p la in t i f  the com m iss ion  finds that the standards fo r  exped ited cons ide ra tion  set ou t in this 
subsection have been met.
(d ) I f  the com m iss ion  exped ites conside ra tion , the com m iss ion  sh a ll h o ld  a hearing on the 
compJauu -^ nh in  days a fte r granting exped ited cons ide ra tion . N ot la te r th an one day a fte r 
a ffo rd in g  the respondent notice and an opportun ity  to be heard , the com m iss io n  shall
( 1 )  en ter a n em e rg en cy  o rd e r requ iring  the v io la tion  to be ceased o r  to be rem ed ied  and assess 
c iv il penalties under A S 1 5 .1 3 .3 9 0  i f  the com m iss ion  finds that the respondent has engaged in o r 
is about to engage in an act o r  practice that constitutes o r  w ill constitu te a v io la t ion  o f  this 
chapter o r a regu la tion  adopted under th is chapter;
( 2 )  enter an em ergency o rd e r d ism iss ing  the com p la in t i f  the com m iss ion  finds that the 
respondent has not o r  is not about to engage in an act o r  practice that constitu tes o r w i ll 
constitute a v io la t io n  o f  th is chapter o r  a regu la tion  adopted under th is chap te r; o r
( 3 )  rem and the com p la in t to the execu tive d irec to r o f  the com m iss ion  fo r  conside ra tion  by the 
com m iss ion  on  a regu la r ra ther than an exped ited  basis.
(e ) I f  the com m iss ion  accepts the com p la in t fo r  consideration  on a re g u la r ra the r than an 
expedited basis, the com m iss ion  sh a ll n o tify  the respondent w ithin seven days a fte r rece iv ing the 
com p la in t and sha ll investigate the com p la in t. The respondent m ay an sw er the com p la in t by 
filin g  a w ritten response with the com m iss ion  w ithin 15 days a fte r the com m iss ion  no tifies the 
respondent o f  the com p la in t. The com m iss ion  m ay grant the respondent add itiona l time to 
respond to the com p la in t o n ly  fo r  g ood  cause. T he com m iss ion  sh a ll h o ld  a hearing on the 
com p la in t not la te r than 4 5  days a fte r the respondent's w ritten response is due. N ot la te r than 10 
days a fte r the hearing , the com m iss ion  sh a ll issue its o rder. I f  the com m iss ion  finds that the



respondent has engaged in or is about to engage in an act or practice that constitutes or will 
constitute a violation of this chapter or a regulation adopted under this chapter, the commission 
shall enter an order requiring the violation to be ceased or to be remedied and shall assess civil 
penalties under AS 15.13.390.
(0  If the complaint involves a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute or regulation, 
necessary witnesses that arc not subject to the commission’s subpoena authority, or other issues 
outside the commission's authority, the commission may request the attorney general to file a 
complaint in superior court alleging a violation of this chapter. The commission may request the 
attorney general to file a complaint in superior court to remedy the violation of a commission 
order.

\  (g) A commission order under (d) or (e) of this section may be appealed to the superior court by 
either the complainant or respondent within 30 days in accordance with the Alaska Rules of 
Appellate Procedure.
(h) If the commission does not complete action on an administrative complaint within 90 days 
after the complaint was filed, the complainant may file a complaint in superior court alleging a 
violation of this chapter by a respondent as described in the administrative complaint filed with 
the commission. The complainant shall provide copies of the complaint filed in the superior 
court to the commission and the attorney general. This subsection do?s not create a private cause 
of action against the commission; against the commission's members, officers, or employees; or 
against the state.
(i) If a person who was a successful candidate or the campaign treasurer or deputy campaign 
treasurer of a person who was a successful candidate is convicted of a violation of this chapter, 
after the candidate is sworn into office, proceedings shall be held and appropriate action take'’ in 
accordance with
(1) art. II, sec. 12, of the state constitution, if the successful candidate is a member of the state 
legislature;
(2) art. II, sec. 20, of the state constitution, if the successful candidate is governor or lieutenant 
governor;
(3) the provisions of the call for the constitutional convention, if the successful candidate is a 
constitutional convention delegate;
(4) art. IV, sec. 10, of the state constitution, if the successful candidate is a judge.
(j) Information developed by the commission under (b) - (e) of this section shall be considered 
during a proceeding under (i) of this section.
(k) If, after a successful candidate is sworn into office, the successful candidate or the campaign 
treasurer or deputy campaign treasurer of the person who was a successful candidate is charged 
with a violation of this chapter, the case shall be promptly tried and accorded a preferred position 
for purposes of argument and decision so as to ensure a speedy disposition of the matter.
History

1 ch 76 SLA 1974; am § 25 ch 189 SLA 1975; am § § 1 ,6  ch 134 SLA 1982; am §§ 33 - 36 ch 
74 SLA 1985; am § 26 ch 14 SLA 1987; am §§ 20, 21, 28 ch 48 SLA 1996; am § 6 ch 1 SLA 
2002 TSSLA; am § 17 ch 108 SLA 2003)



Annotations
R cv iso r's notes. F o rm e r ly  A S lo .1 3 .1 2 0 .  R enum bered  in 2 0 0 0 , at which tim e, "A S  1 5 .1 3 .3 9 0 " 

was substituted fo r  "A S  1 5 .1 3 .1 2 5 "  in subsection (d )  in o rd e r to re fle c t the 2 0 0 0  renum bering o f  
A S  1 5 .1 3 .1 2 5 .

E ffe c t o f  am endm ents. The 1996  am endm ent, e ffe c tiv e  January 1, 1 9 9 7 , repea led  subsection
(a ) , and rew rote subsections (d ) and (e ) .
T he 2 0 0 2  am endm ent, e ffe c tiv e  June 3 6 , 2 0 0 2 , de leted  ", inc lud ing  con tribu to rs  w ho fa iled  to 
f i le  a statement in accordance with A S  1 5 .1 3 .0 4 0 ."  fo llow in g  "de linquent in fi lin g  them " in the 
firs t sentence in subsection (c ).
The 2 0 0 3  am endm ent, e ffe c tiv e  Sep tem ber 14, 2 0 0 3 , rew rote this seetion .

N O T E S  T O  D E C IS IO N S

A N A L Y S IS
I. G enera l C ons ide ra tion
II. F o rfe itu re  Sanction

I. G E N E R A L  C O N S ID E R A T IO N .
T h is section conta ins no sc ien ter requ irem ent >nd the cou rt w ou ld  not im pose one . Slate, 

Alaska Hub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall. 6 3 3  P .2d 2 2 7  (A la sk a  1 981 ).
Q uoted  in Messerli v. State, 6 2 6  P .2d 81 (A la s k a  1 980 )

II. F O R F E IT U R E  S A N C T IO N .
Annotator's notes. - Subsection (b ), which conta ined a fo rfe itu re  sanction fo r  v io la t ion  o f  AS 

15 .1 3 , was repea led  in 1982 .
C on s titu tion a l’ ty o f  fo r fa ilu re  sanction . - T he fo rfe itu re  sanction o f  subsection (b ) (now  

repea led ) docs not c o n flic t w ith any constitu tiona l p rov is ion  de lim iting  the qu a lifica tion s o f  
assem b ly o r  coi ncil m em bers o r  w ith any p rov is ion  rese rv ing  exc lu s ive  au tho rity  to determ ine a 
member's e lec tion  to those loca l entities. State, Alaska Pub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall, 633  
P .2d  2 2 7  (A la s , a 1 981 ).
E ven i f  the fo rfe itu re  sanction o f  subsection (b )  (n ow  repea led ) m ay c o n flic t with A laska  C o n s * , 
art. I I , § 1 2 , in so fa r as state leg is la tive  e lec tions are concerned , it can nonethe less cr .istitu tiona lly  
aop ly  »o loca l e lec tions . State, Alaska Pub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall, 6 3 3  P .2d  2 2 7  (A laska  
1981 ).
The fo rfe itu re  sanction is va lid . State, Alaska Pub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall, 6 3 3  P .2d  2 27  

(A la sk a  1 9 81 ).
The dead lines fo r  fi lin g  are m andato ry , and the p la in  m eaning o f  th is section makes the 

fo rfe itu re  sanction app licab le . State, Alaska Pub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall. 6 3 3  P .2d  2 27  
(A la sk a  1 9 81 ).
T he statu tory fo rfe itu re  o f  o ffic e  p rov is ion  app lied  to the e lec tion  o f  a c ity  counc ilm an  and 
bo rough assem b lym an whose 1980  seven -day p re-e lec tion  report was not fi le d  until w e ll a fter 
the e lec tion . State, Alaska Pub. Offices Comm'n v. Marshall, 6 3 3  P .2d 2 2 7  (A la sk a  1981 ).
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The absence of regulations is not fatal to enforcement of the forfeiture sanction because they 
are not necessary to implement the sanction or to protect a constitutional right. State, Alaska Pub. 
Offices Comm'n v. Marshall, 633 P.2d 227 (Alaska 1981).
Sec. 15.13.385. Legal counsel.

Statute text
(a) The attorney general is legal unsel for 'he commission. The attorney general shall advise 
the commission in lega1 matters arising in the discharge of its duties and represent the 
commission in actions to which it is a party. If, in the opinion of the commission, the public 
interest warrants, the commission may request the chief justice of the supreme court to appoint a 
special prosecutor to represent the commission in a proceeding involving an alleged violation of 
this chapter and to prosecute that violation.
(b) When the public interest warrants, the commission may employ temporary legal counsel 
from time to time in matters in whirh the commission is involved.
History
(§ 26 ch 189 SLA 1975)
Annotations

Rcvisor's notes. Formerly AS 15.13.122. Renumbered in 2000.
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F T C  P O L IC Y  S T A T E M E N T  O N  D E C E P T IO N

FEDERAI TR a DE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON. D C. 205K0

October 14. 1983

The Honorable John D. Dmgcll 
Chairman
Committee on Energy and Commerce 
U.S. House of Representatives 
Washington. D.C. 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

This letter msponds to the Committee's inquiry regarding the Commission's enforcement 
policy against deceptive acts or practices.1 We also hope this letter will provide guidance 
to the public.

Section 5 of the FTC Act declares unfair or deceptive acts or practices unlawful. Section 
12 specifically prohibits false ads likely to induce the purchase of food, drugs, devices or 
cosmetics. Section 15 defines a false ad for purposes of Section 12 as one which is1 • i • *"misleading in a material respect." Numerous Commission and judicial decisions have 
defined and elaborated on the phrase "deceptive acts or practices" under both Sections 5 
and 12. Nowhere, however, is there a single def initive statement of the Commission's 
view of its authority. The Commission believes that such a statement would be useful to 
the public, as well as the Committee in its continuing review’ of out jurisdiction.

We have therefore reviewed the decided cases to synthesize the most important 
principles of general applicability. We have attempied to provide a concrete indication of 
the manner in which the Commission will enforce its deception mandate. In so doing, w'e 
intend to address the concerns that have been raised about the meaning of decep.ion. and 
thereby attempt to provide a greater sense of certainty as to how' the concept will be 
applied.^

I. SUMMAR Y

Certain elements undergird all deception cases. First, there must be a representation.
omission or practice that is i'kely to mislead the consumer.4 Practices that have been 
found misleadmg or deceptive in specific cases include false oral or w'nttcn 
representations, misleading price claims, sales of hazardous oi systematically defective 
products or services witnout adequate disclosures, failure to disclose information 
regarding pyramid sales., use of bait and switch techniques, failure to perform n>omiscd
services, and failure to meet warranty obligations/

Second, we examine the practice from the perspective of a consumer acting reasonably in 
the circumstances. If the representation or practice affects or is directed primarily to a 
particular group, the Commission examines reasonableness from the perspective of that 
group.

E T C  P o lic y  S ta tem en t
http:/ vww.Itc.gov/bcp/poiic*j.mi/ad-aeccpt.htm 10/5/2004
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Third, the rep resen ta tion , om iss ion , o r  p ractice must be a "m a tc r ia r  one . T he  basic 
question is w hether the act o r  practice is lik e ly  to a ffe c t the consum er's conduct o r  
decis ion  w ith regard  to  a p roduct o r  se rv ice . I f  so , the practice is m ate ria l, and consum er 
in ju ry  is lik e ly , because consum ers are lik e ly  to have chosen d if fe re n t ly  but fo r  the 
decep tion . In  m any instances, m ate ria lity , and hence in ju ry , can be p resum ed from  the 
nature o f  the practice . In  o the r instances, ev idence o f  m ate ria lity  m ay be necessary .

T hus , the C om m iss io n  w ill fin d  deception i f  there is a rep resen ta tion , om iss ion  01 
practice that is l ik e ly  to  m is lead  the con sum er acting reasonab ly  in the c ircum stances, to 
the consum er's detrim ent. W e  discuss each o f  these e lem ents b e low .

I I . T H E R E  M U S T  B E  A R E P R E S E N T A T IO N . O M IS S IO N , O R  P R A C T IC E  T H A T  IS  
L IK E L Y  T O  M IS L E A D  T H E  C O N S U M E R .

M ost decep tion in v o lv e s  w ritten o r  o ra l m isrep resen tations, o r  om iss ion s  o f  m ateria l 
in fo rm a tion . D ecep tion  m ay a lso  occu r in o the r fo rm s  o f  conduct associated w ith a sales 
transaction . T he en t'rc advertisem ent, transaction o r  cou rse  o f  d ea lin g  w ill be considered . 
The issue is w hether the »et o r  practice is lik e ly  to m is lead , ra the r than w hether it causes 
actual decep tions .

O f  cou rse , the C om m iss ion  must find  that a rep resen ta tion , om iss ion , o r  p ractice 
occu rred  in cases o f  exp ress c la im s , the rep resen tation its e lf c s ta b l,:h e s  the m eaning . In 
cases o f  im p lied  c la im s , the C om m iss ion  w ill o ften  be ab le to de te rm ine m eaning 
th rough an exam ina tion  o f  the representation itse lf, inc lud ing  an eva lu a tion  o f  such 
factors as the en tire  docum ent, the ju x tap o s ition  o f  va riou s phrases in the Jocum ent the 
nature o f  the c la im , and the nature o f  the transactions .7 In o the r situations, the 
C om m iss ion  w ill requ ire ex trin s ic  ev idence that reasonab le  con sum ers reach the im p lied

o
c la im s. In a ll instances, the C om m iss ii t w ill c a re fu lly  c on s id e r any cx trm s ic  evidence 
that is in troduced .

Som e cases in v o lv e  om iss ion  o f  m ateria l in fo rm a tio n , the d isc lo su re  o f  which is
necessaiy to  prevent the c la im , practice, o r sa le from  being m is le ad in g .4 In fo rm a tio n
may be om itted  from  w ritten 10 o r  o r a l11 representations o r  from  the com m erc ia l 
transaction . 1 2

In som e circum stances, the C om m iss ion  can presum e that consum ers arc lik e ly  to reach 
fa lse  b e lie fs  about the p roduct o r  se rv ice  because o f  an om iss ion . A t o th e r tim es, 
how ever, the C om m iss io n  m ay requ ire ev idence on consum ers' expec ta tion s . 13

M arketing  and po in t-o f-sa le s  practices that arc lik e ly  to m is lead  consum ers a re  a lso  
decep tive . F o r  instance, in bait and sw itch cases, a v io la t ion  occu rs when the o f fe r  to se ll 
the product is not a bona fide o f fe r . 14 The C om m iss ion  has a lso  found  decep tion  where a
sales rep resen ta tive m isrep resented the purpose o f  the in itia l contact w ith cu stom ers . 1-5 
W hen a p roduct is so ld , 'here is an im p'icd  representation that the p roduct is fit fo r  the 
purposes fo r  which it is so id  W hen it is not, deception occu rs . 16 There m ay be a concern 
about the w ay a p roduct o r  se rv ice is m arketed , such as where inaccurate o r incom p le te
in fo rm a tion  is p ro v id e d .1' A fa ilu re  to p e rfo rm  se rv ices p rom ised  under a w arran ty  o r  by 
contract can a lso  be deceptive.
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I I I .  T H E  A C T  O R  P R A C T IC E  M U S T  B E  C O N S ID E R E D  F R O M  T H E  
P E R S P E C T IV E  O F  T H E  R E A S O N A B L E  C O N S U M E R

The C om m iss ion  be lieves that to be deceptive the rep resen ta tion , om iss ion  o r  practice 
must be I k e ly  to  m is lead  reasonab le  consum ers under the c ircum stances . 19 The test is

'TOw hether the consum er's interpretation o r  reaction is re asonab le .”  W hen representations 
o r  sales practices are targeted to a spec ific  audience, the C om m iss ion  determ ines the 
e f fe ; t  f  the practice on a reasonab le m em ber o f  that g roup . In eva lu a ting  a pa rticu la r 
pn.cti e. the C om m iss ion  considers the to ta lity  o f  the practice in determ in ing how 
re a sm ab le  consum ers are lik e ly  to respond.

A (•■ impany is not lia b le  fo r  every  in terp retation o r  action by a consum er. In an 
ad ertis ing  con tex t, this p rin c ip le  has been w e ll-s ta ted :

An adve rtise r cannot be charged with lia b ility  w ith respect to eve ry  
conce iv ab le  m isconception , h ow ever ou tland ish , to which his 
rep resen tations m ight be subject am ong the fo o lish  o r  feeb le -m inded . Som e 
p eop le , because o f  ignorance o r incom prehension , m ay be m is led  by even a 
sc ru p u lou s ly  honest c la im . Perhaps a few  m isgu ided sou ls  be lieve , fo r  
exam p le , that a ll "D an ish  pastry" is made in D enm ark . Is it th ere fo re  an 
ac tionab le  deception to advertise "D an ish  pastry" when it is made in this 
c ou n try .?  O f  course not, A representation does not becom e " fa lse  and 
decep tive" m ere ly  because it w ill be un reasonab ly  m isunderstood  by an 
in s ign ifican t and unrepresentative segment o f  the c lass o f  persons to whom  
the rep resen tation is addressed. H e in z W , K irchn c r, 6 3  F .T .C . 1282 , 1290  
(1 9 6 3 ) .

T o  be conside red  reasonab le , the interp retation o r reaction does not have to be the on ly  
on e .”  W hen  a se lle r's representation conveys m ore than one meaning to reasonab le 
consum ers , one o f  which is fa lse , the s e lle r is liab le  fo r  the m is lead ing  in te rp reta tion .” ”  
An in te rp reta tion  w ill be presumed reasonab le i f  it is the one the respondent intended to
convey .

The C om m iss ion  has used this standard in its past decis ions. The test app lied  by the
C om m iss ion  is w hether the interpretation is reasonab le  in light o f  the c la im ." ” ' In the 
L iste rine case , the C om m iss ion  eva luated the c la im  from  the perspective o f  the "average 
lis ten e r."24 In a case in vo lv in g  the sa le o f  encyc loped ias , the C om m iss ion  observed " (i)n  
determ in ing the meaning o f  an advertisem ent, a piece o f  p rom otiona l m ateria l o r a  sa les 
presentation , the im portan t c riterion  is the net im pression that it is lik e ly  to make on the 
genera l p opu lace ."25 The decisions in Am erican H om e P roducts, 3 r is to l M yers , and
S te rling  D rug  are rep lete with re fe rences to reasonab le consum er in terpretations 26 In a 
land sa les case , the C om m iss ion  eva lua ted  the o ra l statements and w ritten representations 
"in light o f  the sophistication and understanding o f  the persons to w hom  they were

27d irected ." O m iss ion  cases arc no d iffe ren t: the C om m iss ion  exam ines the fa ilu re  to 
d isc lose in light o f  expectations and understandings o f  the typ ica l b u y e r  regard ing the 
c la im s made.

W hen represen tations o r sa les practices are targeted to a sp ec ific  audience, sucn as
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ch ild ren , '.he e ld e r ly , o r  the te rm in a lly  i l l .  the C om m iss io n  determ ines the e ffe c t o f  the 
practice on a reasonab le  m em ber o f  that g rou p . ' 9 F o r  instance, i f  a com pany markets a 
cure to the te rm in a lly  i l l ,  the practice w ill be eva lua ted  from  the "'•rspcctivc o f  how  it 
a ffe c ts  the o rd in a ry  m em ber o f  that g roup . T hus , te rm in a lly  i l l c um ers m ight be 
p a rticu la r ly  susceptib le to  exaggerated cu re c la im s. B y  the same token , a practice o r 
rep resen tation  d irected to  a w e ll-educated  g roup , such as a p resc rip tion  drug 
advertisem ent to d oc to rs , w ou ld  be jud ged  in light o f  the know ledge and sophistication
o f  that g ro u p . 10

As it has in the past, the C om m iss ion  w ill eva lua te  the en tire advertisem ent, transaction , 
o r  cou rse  o f  d ea ling  in determ in ing how  reasonab le  consum ers are lik e ly  to  respond. 
Thus, in adve rtis ing  the C om m iss ion  w ill exam ine "the en tire  m osaic , ra the r than each 
tile  se p a ra te ly ."-11 A s exp la ined  by a cou rt o f  appea ls in a recent case:

T he  C om m iss ion 's  right to sc ru tin ize the v isua l and au ra l im agery o f  
advertisem ents fo llo w s  from  the p rin c ip le  that the C om m iss ion  lo o k s  to the 
im pression  m ade by the advertisem ents as a w ho le . W ith ou t this m ode o f  
exam ina tion , the C om m iss ion  w ou ld  have lim ited  recou rse against c ra fty  
advertise rs w hose deceptive messages were conveyed  b^ means o the r than, 
o r  in add ition  to, spoken w ords. A m erican  H om e P roducts . 6 9 5  F .2d  6 8 1 ,
688  (3 d  C ir . D ec. 3 , I 9 8 2 ) . 32

In a case in v o lv in g  a weight loss product, the C om m iss ion  ob served :

It is ob v io u s  that d ieting is the conven tion a l m ethod o f  lo s ing  weight. But it 
is eq u a lly  ob v iou s  that m any peop le who need o r  want to lose  weight rega. i 
d ieting as b itter m edic ine. T o  these co rpu len t consum ers the prom ises o f  
w eigh t lo ss w ithout d ieting are the S iren's c a ll, and advertis ing  that hera lds 
unrestra ined consum ption  w h ile  muting the inev itab le  need fo r  temperance, 
i f  not abstinence, s im p ly  does not pass muster. P o rte r &  D ietsch , 9 0  F .T .C .
7 7 0 . 8 6 4 -8 6 5  ( 1 9 7 7 ) .  6 0 5  F .2d  2 9 4  (7 th  C ir . 1 9 7 9 ), cert, den ied . 4 4 5  U .S . 
9 5 0 ( 1 9 8 0 ) .

C h ild ren  have a lso  been the specific  target o f  ads o r  practices. In Ideal Toy. the 
C om m iss io n  adopted the H earing Exam iner's conc lu s ion  that:

F a lse , m is lead ing  and deceptive advertis ing  c la im s beamed at ch ild ren  tend 
to e x p lo it u n fa ir ly  a consum er g roup  unqu a lified  by age o r  experience to 
an ticipate o r  appreciate the poss ib ility  that represen tations may he 
exaggerated o r  untrue. Ideal Toy, 6 4  F .T .C . 2 9 7 , 3 1 0  (1 9 6 4 ) .

See a lso , Avalon Industries Inc., 83  F .T .C . 1728 . 1 7 50  (1 9  ’ V .

In a subsequent case, the C om m ission  exp la ined  that " [ i ]n  eva lua ting  advertising 
rep resen tations, we are requ ired  to lo o k  at the com p le te  advertisem ent and fo rm u la te  ou r 
op in ion s on them  on the basis o f  the net genera l im pression  conveyed  by them and not on 
iso la ted  exce rp ts ." Standard Oil o f Calif, 8 4  F .T .C . 1401 , 1471 (1 9 7 4  ), affd as modified. 
5 7 7  F .2d  6 5 3  (9 th  C ir . 1 9 7 8 ), reissued, 9 6  F .T .C . 3 8 0  (1 9 8 0 ) .

http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/policystmt/ad-decept.htm 10/5/2004

http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/policystmt/ad-decept.htm


F T C  POLIC Y S T A T E M E N T  O N  D E C E P T I O N Page $ of 14

The T h ird  C ircu it stated succinctly  the C om m iss ion 's  standard. "T he tendency o f  the 
advertis ing  to deceive must be jud ged  by v iew ing  it as a w ho le , w ithout em phas iz ing  
iso la ted  w ords o r  phrases apart from  the ir con text." Beneficial Corp. v. FTC, 5 4 2  F .2d  
6 1 1 , 6 1 7  (3d  C ir . 1 9 7 6 ), cert denied. 4 3 0  U .S . 9 8 3  ( 1 9 7 7 ) .

C om m iss io n  cases revea l spec ific  gu ide lines. D epend ing  on the c ircum stances, accurate 
in fo rm a tion  in the text m ay not rem edy a fa lse  head line  because reasonab le  consum ers
m ay g lance o n ly  at the h ead lin e .33  W ritten  d isc lo su res o r  fin e  print m ay be in su ffic ien t to
co rrect a m is lead ing  rep resen tations .34 O the r practices o f  the com pany may direct
consum eis' attention aw ay from  the q u a lify in g  d isc lo su re s .35 O ra l statements, labe l 
d isc lo su res o r  p o in t-o f-sa le  m ateria l w ill not necessarily  co rrect a deceptive 
representation o r om iss io n .36 T hus , when the firs t contact between a se lle r and a buyer 
occu rs th rough a deceptive practice, the law  m ay be v io la ted  even i f  the truth is 
subsequently  made know n to  the pu rchase r .37 P ro  fo rm a  statements o r  d isc la im e rs may

• j  • IKnot cu re otherw ise deceptive messages o r  practices.

Q u a lify in g  d isc losu res must be leg ib le  and understandab le . In eva lua ting  such 
d isc lo su res , the C om m iss ion  recogn izes that in m any c ircum stances, reasonab le 
consum ers do not read the en tire ty o f  an ad o r are d irected aw ay from  the im portance o f  
the q u a lify in g  phrase by the acts o r  statements o f  the se lle r . D isc lo su re s  that c o n fo rm  to 
the C om m iss ion 's  Statem ent o f  En fo rcem en t P o lic y  regard ing  c lea r and consp icuous 
d isc lo su res , which app lies to te lev is ion  advertis ing , are g ene ra lly  adequate, C C H  T rade 
R egu la tion  R epo rte r. 'I 7 5 6 9 .0 9  (O ct. 2 1 , 1 9 70 ). Less e labora te  d isc lo su res m ay a lso  
su ff ic e .39

Certa in  practices, how ever, are u n lik e ly  to deceive consum ers acting reasonab ly . Thus, 
the C om m iss io n  g ene ra lly  w ill not b ring advertis ing  cases based on sub jective c la im s 
(taste, fe e l, appearance, sm e ll) o r  o :i c o rre c tly  stated opinion c la im s i f  consum ers 
understand the source and lim ita tions o f  the op in io n .40 C la im s phrased as op in ion s are 
ac tionab le , how ever, i f  they arc not honestly  he ld , i f  they m isrepresent the q u a lific a tio n s  
o f  the h o ld e r o r  the basis o f  his op in ion  o r  i f  the recip ient reasonab ly interprets them as 
im p lied  statements o f  fact.

The C om m iss ion  g ene ra lly  w ill not pursue cases in vo lv in g  ob v iou s ly  exaggerated o r 
p u ffin g  rep resen tations, i.e., those that the o rd in a ry  consum ers do not take se rio u s ly .4 2  
Som e exaggerated c la im s , how eve i, m ay be taken se riou s ly  by consum ers and are 
ac tionab le . F o r instance, in re jecting  a respondent's argument that use o f  the w ords 
"e lec tron ic  m irac le " to describe a te le v is ion  antenna was pu ffe ry , the C om m iss ion  stated:

A lth ough  not insensitive to respondent’s concern that the term  m irac le  is c om m on ly  used
in situations short o f  changing w'alcr in to w ine, we must conc lude that the use o f
"e lec tron ic  m irac le " in the context o f  respondent's g ro ss ly  exaggerated c la im s w ou ld  lead
consum ers to g ive added credence to the o v e ra ll suggestion that this device is su p e rio r to '
o the r types o f  antennae. Ja\ Norris, 91 F .T .C . 7 5 1, 8 4 7  n .20  (1 9 7 8 ) ,  afi'd, 5 9 8  F .2d  12 4 4  (
(2 d  C ir . ) ,  cert, denied, 4 4 4  U .S . 9 8 0  (1 9 7 9 ) .

F in a lly , as a m atter o f  p o lic y , w hen consum ers can eas ily  eva luate the product o r  se rv ice ,
it is inexpensive , and it is frequen tly  purchased, the C om m iss ion  w ill exam ine the i
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practice c lo s e ly  b e fo re  issu ing a eom pi. int based on deception . T he re  is little  incentive 
fo r  se lle rs  to m isrep resent (e ith e r by an exp lic it fa lse  statement o r  a de libe ra te  fa lse 
im p lied  statem ent) in these circum stances since they n o rm a lly  w ou ld  seek to encourage 
repeat pu rchases. W he re , as here, m arket incentives p lace strong constra in ts on the 
lik e lih o o d  o f  decep tion , the C om m iss ion  w ill exam ine a practice c lo s e ly  be fo re  
p roceed ing .

In sum . the C om m iss ion  w ill con s ide r m any factors in determ in ing the reaction o f  the 
o id in a ry  consum er to a c la im  o r  practice. As w ou ld  any trie r o f  fact, the C om m iss ion  w iil 
eva lu a te  the to ta lity  o f  the ad o r  the practice and ask questions such as: how  c lea r is the 
rep resen ta tion? how  consp icuous is any q u a lify in g  in fo rm a tio n ?  how  im portan t is the 
om itted  in fo rm a tio n ?  d o  o the r sou rces fo r  the om itted  in fo rm a tion  ex is t?  how  fam ilia r is 
the pub lic  w ith the p roduct o r  se rv ice?4 '

IV . T H E  R E P R E S E N T A T IO N . O M IS S IO N  O R  P R A C T IC E  M U S T  B E  M A T E R IA L

The th ird e lem ent o f  decep tion is m ate ria lity . That is, a rep resen tatio .i, om iss ion  o r 
practice must be a m ateria l one fo r  deception to occu r A "m a te ria l" m isrep resentation 
o r  practice is one which is lik e ly  to a ffec t a consum er's choice o f  o r  conduct regard ing a 
p roduc t .45 In o the r w o rds , it is in fo rm ation  that is im portan t to consum ers. I f  inaccurate 
o r  om itted in fo rm a tion  is m ate ria l, in ju ry  is lik e ly  46

The C om m iss io n  conside rs certa in categories o f  in fo rm ation  p resum p tive ly  m ateria l 47

F irs t, the C om m iss ion  presum es that express c la im s arc m ateria l 48 As the Suprem e 
C ou rt stated recen tly , ” [ i]n  the absence o f  factors that w ou ld  d istort the decision  to 
advertise , we m ay assum e that the w illingness o f  a business to p rom ote its products 
re flec ts  a b e lie f that consum ers are interested in the advertis ing ."49 W here the s e lle r 
knew , o r  shou ld  have know n , that an o rd ina ry  consum er w ou ld  need om itted  in fo rm a tion  
to eva lua te  the product o r  se rv ice , o r  that the c la im  was fa lse , m ate ria lity  w ill be 
presum ed because the m anu fac tu re r intended the in fo rm a tion  o r om iss ion  to have an 
e ffe c t .50 S im ila r ly , when ev idence ex ists that a s e lle r intended to  m ake an im p lied  c la im , 
the C om m iss ion  w ill in fe r m a te ria lity .51

The C om m iss ion  a lso  conside rs c la im s o r om iss ion s m ateria l i f  they s ign ific an tly  in vo lv e  
hea lth , sa fe ty , o r  o ther areas w ith which the reasonab le consum er w ou ld  be concerned . 
D epend ing  on the facts, in fo rm a tion  perta in ing to the centra l characteristics o f  the 
product o r  se rv ice w ill be presum ed m ateria l. In fo rm ation  has been found m ateria l w here
it conce rns the pu rp ose ,52 sa fe ty 53 e f f ic a c y ,54 o r  co st ,55 o f  the product o r  se rv ice . 
In fo rm a tio n  is a lso  lik e ly  to be m ateria l i f  it concerns du rab ility , p e rfo rm ance , w arranties 
o r  qu a lity . In fo rm a tio n  perta in ing to a find ing by another agency regard ing the product 
m ay a lso  be m a te ria l.56

Whc e the C om m iss ion  cannot find  m ateria lity  based on the above ana lys is , the 
C om m iss io n  m ay require ev idence that the c la im  o r  om ission  is lik e ly  to be conside red  
im portan t by consum ers. T h is ev idence can be the fact that the product o r  se rv ice with 
the feature represented costs m ore than an otherw ise com parab le  product w ithout the 
fea tu re , a re lia b le  su rvey o f  consum ers , o r c red ib le  testim ony .57
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A fin d ing  o f  m ate ria lity  is i~so a find ing  that in ju ry  is lik e ly  to ex ist because o f  the 
rep resen tation , om iss ion , sa les p ractice , o r  m arketing  techn ique . In ju ry  to con sum ers can 
la ke  m any fo rm s .58 In ju ry  ex is ts  i f  consum ers w ou ld  have chosen d if fe re n t ly  but fo r  the 
decep tion . I f  d iffe re n t ch o ices are lik e ly , the c la im  is m a te ria l, and in ju ry  is lik e ly  as 
w e ll. T hus , in ju ry  and m ate ria lity  are d iffe ren t nam es fo r  the same concept.

V. C O N C L U S I O N

The C om m iss io n  w ill f in d  an act o r  practice decep tive i f  there is a m isrep resen ta tion , 
om iss ion , o r  o th e r p ractice , that m is leads the con sum er acting reasonab ly  in the 
circum stances, to  the consum er's detrim en t. T he C om m iss io n  w ill not g en e ra lly  require 
ex trin s ic  ev idence conce rn ing  the rep resen tations understood  by reasonab le  consum ers o r 
the m ate ria lity  o f  a ch a lleng ed  c la im , but in som e instances ex trin s ic  ev idence w ill be 
necessary.

The C om m iss io n  in tends to  en fo rc e  the F T C  Act v ig o rou s ly . W e  w ill investigate , and 
prosecute where app rop ria te , acts o r  practices that arc decep tive . W e hope this letter w ill 
he lp  p rov id e  you  and the pub lic  with a greater sense o f  ce rta in ty  conce rn ing  how  the 
C om m iss ion  w ill exe rc ise  its ju r isd ic tion  o v e r decep tion . P lease do  not hesitate to c a ll i f  
we can be o f  any fu rth e r assistance.

B y  d irec tion  o f  the C om m is s io n , C om m iss io n e rs  Pc rtschuk and B a ile y  d issen ting , w ith 
separate statements attached and w ith separate response to the C om m ittee 's request fo r  a 
lega l an a ly s is  to fo llo w .

/s/Jam es C . M i l le r  I I I  
C ha irm an

cc: H on o rab le  Jam es T . B ro y h i l l 
H on o rab le  James J. F lo r i i  
H on o rab le  N o rm an  F. Lent

E n d n o te s :

*S. Rep. No. 97-451, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. 16; H R Rep. No. 98-156, Pail I. 98lh Cong., 1st Sess. 6 (1983). 
The Commission's enforcement policy against unfair acts nr practices is set forth in a letter to Senators 
Ford and Danforth. dated December 17, 1980

“ In determining whether an ad is misleading. Section 15 requires that the Commission take into account 
"representations made or suggested" as well as "the extent to which the advei.isemeni fails to reveal facts 
material in light o f such representations or material with respect to consequences which may result from 
the use o f the commodity to which the advertisement relates under the conditions prescribed in said 
advertisement, or under such conditions as are customary or usual." 15 U.S.C. 55. I f  an act or practice 
violates Section 12, it also violates Section 5. Simeon Management Corp., 87 F.T.C. 1184, 1219 (1976), 
ajfd. 579 F.2d 1137 (9th Cir. 1978); Porter & Dietscli. 90 F.T.C. 770, 873-74 (1977), offd, 605 P.2d 294 
(7th ( r. 1979), cert, denied, 445 U.S. 950 (1980).

^Chairman M ille r has proposed that Section 5 be amended to define deceptive acts. Hearing Before the 
Subcommittee for Consumers o f the Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation, United States 
Senate, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. FTCs Authority Over Deceptive Advertising, July 22,1982, Serial No. 97-134. 
p. 9. Three Commissioners believe a legislative definition is unnecessary. Id. at 45 (Commissioner
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Clanton), at 51 (Commissioner Bailey) and at 76 (Commissioner Pertschuk). Commissioner Douglas 
supports a statutory definition o f deception. Prepared statement by Commissioner George W. Douglas, 
Hearing Before the Subcommittee for Consumers o f the Committee on Commerce. Science and 
Transportation, United States Senate. 98th Cong. 1st Sess. (March 16, 1983) p. 2.

l \  misrepresentation is an express or implied statement contrary to fact A misleading omission occurs 
when qualifying information necessary to prevent a practice, claim, representation, or reasonable 
expectation or belief from being misleading i.> not disclosed Not all omissions are deceptive, even i f  
providing the information would benefit consumers As the Commission noted in rejecting a proposed 
requirement for nutrition disclosures. "In the final analysis, the question whether an advertisement requires 
affirmative disclosure would depend on the nature and extent o f the nutritional claim made in the 
advertisement.". ITT Continental Baking Co. Inc.. 83 F.T.C. 865.965 ( i976). In determining whether ai 
omission is deceptive, the Commission w ill examine the overr.ll impression created by a practice, claim, or 
representation For example, the practice o f offering a product for sale creates an implied representation 
(hat it is fit for the purposes for which it is sold. Failure to disclose that the product is not fit constitutes a 
deceptive omission. |Sce discussion below at 5-6) Omissions may also be deceptive where the 
(epresentations made arc not literally misleading, i f  those representations create a reasonable expectation or 
belief among consumers which is misleading, absent the omitted disclosure.

Non-deccptive emissions may still violate Section 5 i f  they arc unfair. For instance, the R-Value Rule. 16 
C F.R. 460.5 (1983), establishes a specific method for testing insulation ability, and requires disclosure o f 
the figure in advertising The Statement o f Basis and Purpose, 44 FR 50,242 (1979). refers to a deception 
theory to support disclosure requirements when certain misleading claims are made, but the rule's general 
disclosure requirement is based on an unfairness theory. Consumers could not reasonably avoid injury in 
selecting insulation because no standard method o f measurement existed.

5Advertising that lacks a reasonable basis is also deceptive. Firestone, 81 F.T.C. 398. 451-52 (1972). tiff'd. 
481 F.2d 246 (6lh Cir ), cert, denied, 414 U.S. 1112 (1973). National Dynamics, 82 F.T.C. 488, 549-50 
(1973); offd and remanded on other grounds, 492 F.2d 1333 (2d C i r ). cert, denied, 419 U.S. 993 (1974), 
reissued, 85 F.T.C 391 (1976) National Comm'n on Egg Nutrition, 88 F.T.C. 89, |9 | (1976), tiff'd, 570 
P.2d 157 (7th C ir ), cert denied. 439 U.S. 821, reissued, 92 F.T.C 848 (1978). The deception theory is 
based .in the fact that most ads making objective claims imply, and many expressly state, that an advertiser 
has certain specific giounds for the claims. I f  the advertiser docs not, the consumer is acting under a false 
impression. The consumer might have perceived the advertising differently had he or she known the 
advertiser had no basis for the claim This letter docs not address the nuances o f the reasonable basis 
doctrine, which the Commission is currently reviewing. 48 FR 10.471 (March 11. 1983)

^'ln Beneficial Corp. v. h~rC, 542 F 2d 611.617 (3d Cir. 1976), the court noted "the likc lih ix id  or 
propensity o f deception is the criterion by which advertising is measured."

\ ) n  evaluation o f the entire doc ument:

The Commission finds that many o f the challenged Anacin advertisements, when viewed in 
their entirety, did convey the message that the superiority o f this product has been proven 
(footnote omitted). It is immaterial that the word "established", which was used in the 
complaint, generally did not appear in the ads; the important consideration is the net 
impression conveved to the public. American Home Products, 98 F.T.C. 136, 374 (1981), 
tiff'd. 695 F.2d (3d Cir. 1982).

On the juxtaposition o f phrases:

On this label, the statement "K ills  Germs By M illions On Contact" immediately precedes 
the assertion "For General Oral Hygiene Bad Breath. Colds and Resultant Sore 
Throats" [footnote omitted) By placing these two statements in close proxim ity, respondent 
has conveyed the message that since Listerine can k ill m illions o f germs, it can cure, 
prevent and ameliorate colds and sore throats (footnote omitted). Warner Lambert, 86F.T.C.
1398, 1489-90 (1975), tiff'd, 562 F.2d 749 (D.C. Cir. 1977). cert, denied, 435 U.S. 950
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(1978) (rmphasi* in original).

On the nature o f the claim, f  iresu. >> is lelsvant. There the Commission noted that the 
alleged misrepresentation concerned me safety o f respondent's product, "an issue o f great 
significance to consumers. On this issue, the Commission has requires scrupulous accuracy 
in advertising claims, for obvious reasons." 81 F.T.C. 398.456 (1972). tiff'd. 481 F.2d 246 
(6th C ir.). cert, denied, 4 14 U.S. IU2 (1973).

In each o f these cases, other factors, including in some instance* surveys, were in evidence on the meaning 
o f the ad.

g
The evidence can consis' o f expert opinion, consumer testimony (particularly in cases involving oral 

representations), copy tests, surveys, or uny other reliable evidence o f consumer interpretation

o
As the Commission noted in the Cigarette rule. "The nature, appearance, or intended use o f a product may 

create the impression on the mind o f the consumer . and i f  the impression is false, and i f  the seller docs 
not take adequate steps to correct it. he is responsible for an unlawful deception." Cigarette Rule Statement 
o f Basis and Purpose. 29 FR 8324. 8352 (July 2. 1964).

l0Porter A Dietsch, 90 F.T.C. 770. 873-74 (1977). tiff'd 605 F.2d 294 (7th Cir. 1979). cert, denied. *45 
U.S. 950 (1980); Simeon Management Corp.. 87 F.T.C. 1184. 1230 (1976). tiff'd, 579 F.2d 1137 (9th Cir. 
1978).

' '  See. e.g., (irolier. 91 F.T.C. 315.480 (1978), remanded on other grounds, 615 F 2d 1215 (9th C ir 1980), 
modified on other grounds, 98 FM 882 (1981). reissued, 99 F T C .  379 (1982).

* “ In Peacock Buick, 86 F.T.C. 1532 (1975), aff'd, 553 F.2d 97 (4th Cir. 1977), the Commission held that 
absent a clear and early disclosure o f the prior use o f a late model car. deception can result from the setting 
in w hich a sale is made and the expectations o f the buyer... Id at 1555.

Rvcn in the absence o f affirmative misrepresentations, it is misleading for the seller o f late model used cars 
to fail to reveal the particularised uses to which they have been put... When a later model used cur is sold at 
close to list price ... the assumption likely to be made by some purchasers is that, absent disclosure to the 
contrary, such car has not previously been used in a way that might sub. 'antially impair its value In such 
circumstances, failure to disclose a disfavored prior use may tend to mislead. Id at 1557-58.

* 'in  U'onard Porter, the Commission dismissed a complaint alleging that respondents' sale o f unmarked 
products in Alaska led consumers to believe erroneously that they were handmade in Alaska by natives 
Complaint counsel had failed to show that consumers o f Alaskan craft assumed respondents' products were 
handmade by Alaskans in Alaska. The Commission was unwilling, absent evidence, to infer from a 
viewing o f the items that the products would tend to mislead consumers.

By requiring such evidence, we do not imply that elaborate proof o f consumer beliefs or behavior is 
necessary, even in a case such as this, to establish the requisite capacity to deceive. However, where visual 
inspection is inadequate, some extrinsic testimony evidence must be added. 88 F.T.C. 546, 626, n.5 (1976).

^  Bait and Switch Policy Protocol, December 10, 1975; Guides Against Bait Advertising, 16 C.F.R. 238.0 
(1967). 32 PR 15.540.

15Encyclopedia Britannica 87 F.T.C. 421,497 (1976). aff'd, 605 F.2d 964 (7th Cir. 1979), cot. dented,
445 U.S. 934 (1980). modified, 100 F.T.C. 500 (1982).

*^See the complaints in BayleySuit, C -3117 (consent agreement) (September 30,1983) 1102 F.T.C. 1285);
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Figgie International, Inc., D. 9166 (May 17, 1983).

17Thc Commission s complaints in Chryslei Corporation, 99 F.T.C. 347 (1982), and Volkswagen of 
America. 99 F T C. 446 (1982), alleged the failure to disclose accurate use and care instructions for 
rcplacir'3 o il filters was deceptive. The complaint in Ford Motor Co., D. 9154, %  F.T.C. 362 (1980), 
charged Ford with tailing to disclose a "piston scuffing" defect to purchasers and owners which was 
allegedly v «’.csprcad and costly to repair. See also General Motors. D. 9145 (provisionally accepted 
consent agreement, April 26, 1983). 1102 F.T.C. 1741)

19See Jay Norris Corp.. 91 F.T.C. 751 (1978), aff'd with modified language in order. 598 P.2d 1244 (2d 
Cir. 1979), cert denied, 444 U S  980 (1979) (failure to consistently meet guarantee claims o fim m cdia te  
and prompt" delivery as well as money back guarantees); Southern Stales Distributing Co., 83 F.T.C. 1126 
(1973) (failure to honor oral and written product maintenance guarantees, as represented); Skylark 
Originals. Inc., 80 F T C. 337 (1972). off d. 475 F.2d 1396 (3d Cir. 1973) (failure to promptly honor 
moncyback guarantee as represented in advertisements and catalogs); Capitol Manufacturing Corp., 73 
F.T.C. 87^ (1968) (failure to fu lly , satisfactorily and promptly meet all obligations and requirements under 
terms o f service guarantee certificate).

1 ^The evidence necessary to determine how reasonable consumers understand a representation is discussed 
in Section II o f this letter

~°An interpretation may be reasonable even though it ;s not shared by a majority o f consumers in the 
relevant class, or by particularly sophisticated consul, vs. A material practice that misleads a significant 
m inority o f reasonable consumers is deceptive. See Heinz W. Kirchner, 63 F.T.C. 1282 11%3)

a I
A secondary message understood by reasonable consumers is actionable i f  deceptive even though the 

primary message is accurate. Sears Roebuck i t  Co.. 95 F.T.C. 406. 5 11 (1980), off<1676 F.2d 385. (9th 
Cir. 1982); Chrysler. 87 F.T.C. 749 (1976). affd, 561 F 2d 357 (D C. C ir  ) , reissued90 F.T.C. 606 (1977). 
Rhodes Pharmacol Co.. 208 F.2d 382. 387 (7th Cir. 1953). affd. 348 U.S. 940 (1955).

"National Comm'n on Fgg Nutrition, 88 F.T.C. 89. 185 (1976), enforced in part, 570 F.2d 157 (7lh C ir 
1977); Jay Norris Corp., lM F.T.C' 751. 836 (1978). aff'd, 598 F.2d 1244 (2d Cir. 1979).

23National Dynamics, 82 F T C  48*. 524. 548 (1973). aff'd, 492 P.2d 1333 (2d C ir ), cert, denied. 419 
U.S. 993 (1974). reissued 85 F T.C. 39-1 (1976).

Warner-Lambert, 86 F.T.C 1398, U i5  n.4 (1975), aff'd, 562 F.2d 749 (D C. Cir. 1977). cert denied.
435 U.S. 950 (1978).

Grolier. 91 F.T.C 315,430(1978), remanded on other grounds, 615 F.2d 1215 (9th Cir. 1980), 
modified on oilier grounds, 98 F.T.C. 882 (1981). reissued, 99 F T C 379 (1982).

American Home Products, 98 F.T.C. 136 (1981), aff'd695 F,2d 681 (3d Cir. 1982). consumers may be 
led to expect, quite reasonably..." (at 386);"... consumers may reasonably believe.." (Id. n .52 );"... would 
reasonably have been understood by consumers...." (at 371); "the record shows that consumers could 
reasonably have understood this language . . . "  (at 372). See also. pp. 373. 374. 375. Bristol-Myers, D.
8917 (July 5, 1983), appeal docketed. No. 83-4167 (2nd Cir. Sept. 12,1983) ads must he judged by the
impression they make on reasonable members o f the public . . . "  (Slip Op. at 4 ) ; " . . .  consumers could 
reasonably have understood . . . "  (Slip Op. at 7); " . . .  consumers could reasonably infer . . . "  (Slip Op. at 
11) [ 102 F.T.C. 21 (1983)). Sterling Drug, Inc., D. 8919 (July 5,1983), appeal docketed, No. 83-7700 (9th
Cir. Sepl. 14,1983) consumers could reasonably assume . . (Sl ip Op. at 9) ; " . .  . consumers could
reasonably interpret (he ads . . (SFp Op at 33). [ 102 F.T.C. 395 (1983)|
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:7Horizon Co p .97  F.T.C. 464. 810 n.13 (1981).

Simeon Management, 87 F T.C. 1184, 1230 (1976).

~9Thc listed categoric are merely examples. Whether children, terminally il l patients, or any other 
subgroup o f the population w ill be considered a special audience depends on the specific factual context o f 
the claim or the practice.

The Supreme Court has affirmed this approach. "The determination whether an advertisement is 
misleading requires Cu.:.ideration o f the legal sophistication o f its audience." Bates v. Arizona. 433 U S 
350.383 n .37(1977)

WIn one case, the Commissions complaint focused on seriously il l persons. The A IJ  summarized: 
According to the complaint, the frustrations and hopes o f the seriously ill and their families were exploited, 
and the representation had the tendency and capacity to induce the seriously ill to forego conventional 
medical treatment worsening their condition and in some eases hastening death, or to cause them to spend 
large amounts o f money and to undergo the inconvenience o f traveling for u non-cxis.cnt "operation.” 
Travel King. 86 F.T.C. 715. 719 (1975).

31 '• TC v. Sterling Drug, 317 F.2d 669. 674 (2d C ir 1963).

’ “ Numerous cases exemplify this point For instance, in Pfizer, the Commission ruled that "the net 
impression o f the advertisement, evaluated from 'he perspective o f the audience to whom the 
advertisement is directed, is controlling." 81 F.T.C. 23, 58 (1972).

33 In Litton Industries, the Commission held .hat line print disclosures that the surveys included only 
"L itton authorized" agencies were inadequate to remedy the deceptive characterization o f the survey 
population in the headline. 97 F.T.C I. 71. n 6 (1981). ufi'd us modified, 676 F 2d 364 (9th Cir. 1982). 
Compare the Commission's note in the same case that the fine print disclosure "Litton and one other brand" 
was reasonable to quote the claim that independent service technicians had been surveyed. "(F)inc print 
was a reasonable medium for disclosing a qualification o f only limited relevance." 97 F.T.C. 1, 70, n.5 
(1981).

In another case, the Commission held that the body o f the ad corrected the possibly misleading headline 
because in order to enter the contest, the consumer had to read the text, and the text would eliminate any 
false impression stemming from the headline. D.L Blair. 82 F.T.C 234, 255,256 (1973).

In one case respondent's expert witness testified that the headline (and accompany ing picture) o f an ad 
would be the focal point o f the first glance. He also told the administrative law judge that a consumer 
would spend Ulypically a few seconds at most" on the ads at issue. Crown Central, 84 F.T.C. 1493, 1543 
nn. 14-15 (.974).

3^In Giant Pood, the Commission agreed with the examiner that the fine-print disclaimer was inadequate 
to correct a deceptive impression. The Commission quoted from the examiner's finding that "very few i f  
any o f the persons who would read Giant's advertisements would take the trouble to. or did, read the fine 
print disclaimer." o l F.T.C. 326, 348 (1962).

Cf. Beneficial Corp. v. ITC. 542 P.2d 611, 618 (3d Cir. 1976), where the court reversed the Commission’s 
opinion that no qualifying language could eliminate the deception stemming from use o f the slogan 
"Instant Tax Refund."

"Respondents argue that the contracts which consumers signed indicated that credit life insurance was 
not required for financing, and that this disclosure obviated ti e possibility o f deception. We disagree. It Is
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clear from consumer testimony that ora. deception was employed in some instances to cause consumers to 
ignorr the warning in their sales agreement. . Peacock Buick, 86 F.T.C. 1532, 1558-59 (1974).

^Esposition Press, 295 F.2d $69. 873 (2d Cir. 1961); Gimbel Bros.. 61 F T.C 1051. 1066 (1962); Carter 
Prod ucts. 186 F.2d 821. 824 (1951).

By the same token, money-back guarantees do not eliminate deception. 'tars, tb.: Commission 
observed.

A  money-back guarantee is no defense to a charge o f deceptive advertising ... A money- 
back guarantee does not compensate the consumer for the often considerable time and 
expense incident to returning a major-ticket item and obtaining a replacement.

Sears. Roebuck and Co.. 95 F.T.C. 406. 518 <1980), affd. 676 F 2d 385 (9th Cir. 1982). However, the 
existence o f a guarantee, if  honored, ha.> a bearing on whether the Commission should exercise its 
discretion to prosecute. See Deceptive and Unsubstantiated Claims Policy Protocol, 1975.

^  See American Home Products. 98 F.T.C 136, 370 (1981). aff'd. 695 F.2d 681, 688 13d Cir. Dec. 3, 
1982), Whether a disclosure on the label cures deception in advertising depends on the circumstances;

... it is well settled that dishonest advertising is not cured or excused by honest labeling 
| footnote emitted). Whether the ill-effccLs o f deceptive nondisclosure can be cured by a 
disclosure requirement lim ited to labeling, or whether a further requirement o f disclosure in 
advertising should be imposed, is essentially a question o f remedy As such it is a matter 
w ithin the sound discretion o f the Commission (footnote omitted) The question o f whether 
in a particular case to require disclosure in advertising cannot be answered by application o f 
any hard-and-fast principle. The test is simple and pragmatic. Is it likely that unless such 
disclosure is made, a substantial body o f consumers w ill be misled to their detriment’’
Statement of Basts and Purpose for the Cigarette Advertising and lutbeling Trade 
Regulation Rule. 1965, pp 89-90. 29 FR 8325 (1964).

Misleading "door openers" have also been found deceptive (Encyclopedia Britannica, 87 F.T.C 421 
11976), aff'd. 605 P.2d 964 (7th Cir. 1979), cert, denied. 445 U.S. 934 (1980), as modified. 100 F.T.C. 500 
119820. as have offers to sell that are not bona fide offers (Seekonk freezer Meats. Inc., 82 F T.C. 1025
1 1973)). In each o f these instances, the truth is made known prior to purchase.

38• In the 1 istcrinc case, the Commission held that pro forma statements of no absolute prevention followed 
by promises o f fewer colds did not cure or correct the false message that Listerine w ill prevent colds. 
Warner Lambert 80 F.T.C. 1398, 1414 (1975). aff'd. 562 F.2d 749 (D  C. C ir. 1977), cert, denied. 435 U.S. 
950(1978).

^ ^Chicago Metropolitan Pontiac Dealers' Ass'n. C. 3110 (June 9.1983). 1101 F.T.C. 854 (1983)1

4f)An opinion is a representation that expresses only the behalf o f the maker, w ithout certainty, as to the 
existence o f a fact, or his judgement as to quality, value, authenticity, or othei matters of judgement, 
American Law Institute, Restatement on Torts, Second ‘J 538 A.

' 1 Id I  539 At common law, a consumer can generally rely on an expert opinion. Id., 1 542(a). For this 
reason, representations of expert opinion w i'l generally be regarded as representations o f fact.

"^"[T |here  is a category o f advertising themes, in the nature o f pulling or other hyperbole, which do not 
amount to the type o f affirmative product claims for which either the Commission or the consumer would 
expect documentation." Pfizer, Inc, 81 F.T.C. 23. 64 (1972).

http://wwvv.ftc.gov/bcp/policystmt/ad-deccpt.htm
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The term "Puffing" refers generally to an expression o f opinion not made as a representation o f fact. A 
seller has some latitude in puffing his goods, hut he is not authorized to misrepresent them or to assign to 
them benefits they do not possess [cite omitted]. Statements made for the purpose o f deceiving prospective 
purchasers cannot p lpcrly be characterized as mere puffing. Wilmington Chemical, 69 F.T.C. 828. 865 
(1966).

4 ' ln  Avalon Industries, the ALJ observed that the "ordinary person with a common degree o f familiarity 
with industrial civilization ' would expect a reasonable relationship between the size o f package and (he size 
o f quantity o f the contents. He would have no reason to anticipate slack filling ." 83 F.T.C. 1728, 1750
11974) ( I .D ).

44"A  misleading claim or omission in advertising w ill violate Section 5 or Section 12, however, only i f  the 
omitted information would be a material factor in the consumer's decision to purchase the product."
Americ n Home Products Corp., 98 F.T.C. 136.368 (1981), ajfd, 695 F.2d 681 (3d Cir. 1982). A  claim is 
material i f  it is likely to affect consumer behavior. "Is it likely to affect the average consumer in deciding 
whether to purchase the advertised product-is there a material deception, in other words?" Statement o f 
Basis and Purpose, Cigarette Advertising and Labeling Rule. 1965. pp. 86-87 29 FR 8325 (1964).

^M a te ria l information may affect conduct other than the decision to purchase a product. The 
Commission's complaint in Volkswagen of America, 99 F.T.C. 446 ' 1982), for example, was based on 
provision o f inaccurate instructions for o il filter installation. In its Restatement on Torts, Second, the 
American Law Institute defines a material misrepresentation or omission as one which the reasonable 
person .vould regard \s important in deciding how to act, or one which the maker knows that the recipient, 
because of i.rs or her own peculiarities, is likely to consider important. Section 538(2) The Restatement 
explains that a material fact docs not necessarily have to affect the finances o f a transaction. "There arc 
many more or-less sentimental considerations that the ordinary man regards as im portant" Comment on 
Clause 2(a)(d)

4<’ ln evaluating materiality, the Commission takes consumer preferences as given Thus, i f  consumers 
prefer one product to another, the Commission need not determine whether that preference is objectively 
justified. See Algoma lumber, 291 U.S. 54, 78 (1933). Sim ilarly, objective differences among produ.ts are 
not material i f  the difference is not likely to affect consumer choices.

4 ’ f lic  Commission w ill always cons der relevant and competent evidence offered to rebut presumptions o f 
materiality.

Because this presumption is absent tor some implied claims, the Commission w ill take special caution to 
ensure materiall y exists in such cases.

4^Central Hudson Gas <£ Electric Co. v PSC, 447 U.S. 557. 567 11980).

^ C f  Restatement on Contracts, Second 1 162(1).

^ 1 in American llome Products, the evidence was that (he company intended to differentiate its products 
from aspirin. The very fact that A ! IP sought to distinguish its products from aspirin strongly implies that 
knowledge of the true ingredients o f those products would be material to purchasers." American Home Products, 98 F.T.C. 136.368(1981 laJJ'd. 695 F.2d 681 (3d. Cir 1982).

S')
“ In Tedders the ads represented that only Fedders gave the assurance o f cooling on extra hot. humid 

days. "Such a representation is the raison d'etre for an air conditioning unit-it is an extremely material 
representation." 85 F.T.C. 38, 61 (1975) (I.D .),petition dismissed. 529 F 2d 1398 |2d Cir.), cert, denied.
429 U.S. 818(1976).
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^ " W e  nutc at the outset that both alleged misrepresentations go to the issue o f the safety o f respondent’s
product, an issue o f great significance to consumers.” Firestone, 81 F T.C. 398.456 (1972). aff'd, 481 P 2d 
246 (6th C ir.), cert, denied, 414 U.S. 1112 (1973).

where tiredness symptoms arc due to an iron deficiency, and at it was o f no benefit in all other cases, was 
material. J.B. W’dliams Co . 68 F.T.C. 481. 546 (1965). aff'd. 381 F.2d 884 (6th Cir. 1967).

economic perspective:

I f  the record contained evidence o f a significant disparity between the prices o f Anacin and 
plain aspirin, it would form a further basis for a finding o f materiality I hat is. there is a 
reason to believe consumers arc w illing  to pay a premium for a product believed to contain 
a special analgesic ingredient but not for a product whose analgesic is ordinary aspirin.
American Home Products. 98 F T C. 136, *69 ( 19 8 1). aff'd, 695 F.2d 681 (3d C ir 1982).

58 The prohibitions ol Section 5 arc intended to prevent injury to competitors as well as to consumers. I he 
Commission regards injury to competitors as identical to injury to consumers. Advertising and legitimate 
marketing techniques are intended to "lure” competitors by directing business to the advertiser. In fact, 
vigorous competitive advertising can actually benefit consumers by lowering prices, encouraging product 
innovation, and increasing the specificity and amount o f information available to consumers. Deceptive 
practices injure both competitors and consumers because consumers who preferred the competitor's 
product are wrongly diverted.

^ T h c  Commission found that information that a product w as effective in only the small minority o f cases

^ A s  the Commission noted in MacMillan. Inc.:

In marketing their courses, respondents failed to adequately disclose the number o f lesson 
assignments to be submitted in a course. These were material facts necessary for the student 
to calculate his tuition obligation, which was based on the number o f lesson assignments he 
submitted for grading. The nondisclosure o f these material facts combined with the 
confusion arising from LaSalle’s inconsistent use o f terminology had the capacity to mislead 
students about the nature and extent o f their tuition obligation. MacMillan. Inc., 96 F.T.C. 
208. 303-304 (1980).

See also, Peacock lluick, 86 F T.C. 1532. 1562 (1975). aff'd. 553 F.2d 97 (4th Cir. 1977)

56Simeon Management Corp.. 87 F.T.C 1184 (1976), aff'd. 579 P.2d 1137. 1168. n.10 (9th Cir. 1978).

SI In American Home Products, the Commission approved the ALF's finding o f materiality from an
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Sub;sc!: FW: HB 21

Lcu'e Flora

 u r i g i n a l  M e s s a g e ---------
F rom : B r o o k e  M i l e s  (m a i l t o : B r o o k a _ M i le s @ a d m in . s t a t e . a k . u s J  
S e n t :  M onday , J a n u a r y  31 , 20G5 1 0 .2 7  AM 
To: L o u i e  F l o r a  
S u b j e c t :  HB 21

L o u i e  F l o r a
H ouse  S t a t e  A f f a i r s  C o m m it t e e  A i d e

H i L o u i e .  I 'm  s o r r y  f o r  t h e  d e l a y  i n  w r i t i n g  t o  y o u  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  num ber o f  p hone  c a l l s  
r e g a r d i n g  t h e  f a c t u a l  a c c u r a c y  o f  e l e c t i o n  ca m p a ig n  a d v e r t i s i n g  t h a t  APOC r e c e i v e d  d u r i n g  
t h e  2004 e l e c t i o n  c y c l e .
We r e c e i v e d  50 -  75 p h o n e  c a l l s  r e g a r d i n g  t r u t h  i n  p o l i t i c a l  a d v e r t i s i n g .  Some o f  ;hem 
w e re  r e g a r d i n g  t h e  f e d e r a l  e l e c t i o n  f o r  S e n a t e ,  e v e r  w h i c h  APCC had  no  a u t h o r i t y .  The  
a u t h o r i t y  f c r  F e d e r a l  e j e c t i o n s  i s  h e l d  b y  t h e  F e d e r a l  E l e c t i o n s  C o m m is s io n .  B a s e d  on  t h e  
i n q u i r i e s  w’e r e c e i v e d  l a s t  y e a r ,  we b e l i e v e  i t  w o u ld  be  a f a i r  e s t im a t e  t o  p l a n  f o r  8 - 1 0  
c o m p l a i n t s  b e i n g  f i l e d  on  t h i s  i s s u e .  A s  I  t e s t i f i e d  b e f o r e  t h e  C o m m it t e e  l a o t  week, t h i s  
w i l l  h a v e  f i s c a l  im p a c t  on  t h e  C o m m i s s i o n ' s  a b i l i t y  t o  k e e p  up and  t o  m ee t i t s  m i s s i o n .
I f  y o u  w o u ld  l i k e  a n y  a r i d i t i o n « i l  i n f o r m a t i o n ,  p l e a s e  l e t  me know.

B ro o k e  M i l e s ,
E x e c u t i v e  D i r e c t o r  
APOC

1
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c a n d id a te  is  r u n n i n g  m a y  r e c o v e r  d a m a g e s  in  a n  a c t io n  in  s u p e r io r  c o u r t  u n d e r  th is  
s e c t io n  a g a i n s t  t h e  in d iv id u a l  w h o  mad** th e  t e le p h o n e  ca ll, th e  in d iv id u a l ' s  em p loy e r, 
a n d  t h e  p e r s o n  w ho  c o n t r a c te d  fo r  o r  a u th o r i z e d  th e  p o ll o r  c a l l s  to  c o n v in c e . 1 low ev c r, th e  
em p lo y e r  o f  t h e  in d iv id u a l  o r  t h e  p e r s o n  w ho  c o n t r a c te d  fo r o r  a u th o r i z e d  t h e  poll o r  c a lls  
to  c o n v in c e  is  l ia b le  to  t h e  d e fa m e d  c a n d id a t e  o n ly  i f  t h e  e m p lo y e r  o r  p e r s o n  a u th o r iz e d  
th e  s t a t e m e n t  to  b e  m a d e ,  k n o w in g  t h a t  i t  w a s  fa ls e  o r  w i th  r e c k le s s  d is r e g a r d  for 
w h e th e r  i t  w a s  fa ls e  o r  n o t,  a s  p a r t  o f  t h e  poll o r  c a lls  to  c o n v in c e .

(b) T h e  c o u r t  m a y  a w a r d  d a m a g e s ,  in c lu d in g  p u n i t i v e  d a m a g e s .  I f  t h e  c o u r t  f in d s  th a t  
th e  r e s u l t  o f  t h e  s t a t e m e n t  p la c e s  t h e  in t e g r i ty  o f  t h e  e le c t io n  p ro c e s s  in  s u b s t a n t i a l  
d o u b t, th?  e l ig ib i l i ty  o f  t h e  s u c c e s s fu l  c a n d id a t e  to  h o ld  th e  o ffice to  w h ic h  e le c te d  s h a l l  
be d e te rm in e d  a s  p ro v id e d  in  A S  15.56.110(b) or, in  t h e  c a s e  o f  a  c a n d id a t e  fo r g o v e rn o r  
o r l i e u t e n a n t  g o v e rn o r, b y  im p e a c h m e n t  u n d e r  a r t .  II, sec. 20, C o n s t i t u t i o n  o f  t h e  S t a t e  
o f  A la sk a . (* 1 ch  142 S L A  1996)

S e c .  15.13.100. E x p e n d i t u r e s  b e f o i ' e  f i l in g .  A p o l i t ic a l  c a m p a ig n  e x p e n d i t u r e  m ay  
n o t b e  m a d e  o r  in c u r r e d  b y  a  p e r s o n  in  a n  e le c tio n  o r  by  a  p e r s o n  o r  g r o u p  w i th  th e  
p e rso n 's  k n o w le d g e  a n d  o n  t h e  p e rs o n 's  b e h a l f  b e fo re  t h e  d a t e  u p o n  w h ic h  th e  p e r s o n  files 
fo r n o m in a t io n  fo r t h e  office w h ic h  th e  p e r s o n  se ek ^ , e x c e p t  fo r  p e r s o n a l  t r a v e l  e x p en se d  
o r fo r o p in io n  s u rv e y s  o r  p o lls . T h e s e  e x p e n d i tu r e s  m u s t  b e  in c lu d e d  in  t h e  f i r s t  r e p c r t  
re q u in  d  u n d e r  th is  c h a p t e r  a f t e r  f i l in g  fo r  office. (§ I  c h  76 S L A  1974. a m  $ 23 ch  189 
SLA  1975; a m  § 25 c h  14 S L A  1987)

S e c .  15.id>.15’\  F i l i n g  o f  r e p o r t s ,  (a) E a ch  c a n d id a te ,  g ro u p , a n d  n o n g ro u p  e n t i ty  
s h a l l  m a k e  a  fu ll r e p o r t  in  a c c o rd a n c e  w i th  AS 15.13.04C fo r t h e  p e r io d  e n d in g  th r e e  d a y s  
b e fo re  th e  d u e  d a te  o f  t h e  r e p o r t  a n d  b e g in n in g  o n  th e  l a s t  d a y  c o v e re d  by  th e  m o s t  r e c e n t
p re v io u s  r e p o r t .  I f  t h e  r e p o r t  is a  f i r s t  r e p o r t ,  i t  m u s t  c o v e r  th e  p e r io d  fro m  th e  o e g in n in g
o f th e  c a m p a ig n  to  t h e  d a  t e  t h r e e  d a y s  b e fo re  t h e  clue d a t e  o f  th e  r e p o r t .  I f  t h e  r e p o r t  is 
a  r e p o r t  d u e  F e b r u a r y  15 i t  m u s t  c o v e r  t h e  p e r io d  b e g in n in g  o n  th e  l a s t  d a y  c o v e red  by 
th e  m o s t  r e c e n t  p re v io u s  r e p o r t  o r  o n  t h e  d a y  t h a t  t h e  c am p a ig n  s t a r t e d ,  w h ic h e v e r  is 
la te i,  a n d  e n d in g  or. F e b r u a r y  1 o f  t h a t  y e a r .  T 'he t e p o r t  s h a l l  b e  filed

(1) 30 d a y s  b e fo re  t n e  e le c tio n :  h ow ev e r, th i s  r e p o r t  is  n o t  r e q u i r e d  i f  t h e  d e a d l in e  fo r 
tilin g  a  n o m in a t in g  p e t i t io n  o r  d e c l a r a t i o n  o f  c a n d id a c y  is  w i th in  30 d a y s  o f  t h e  e le c tio n ;

(2) o n e  w e e k  b e fo re  t h e  e le c tio n ;
(3) 105 d a y s  a f t e r  a  s p e c ia l  e le c tio n ;  a n d
(4) F e b r u a r y  15 fo r  e x p e n d i t u r e s  m a d e  a n d  c o n t r ib u t io n s  re c e iv e d  t h a t  w e re  n o t 

r e p o r te d  p re v io u s ly , in c lu d in g ,  i f  a p p l ic a b le ,  a ll  a m o u n ts  e x p e n d e d  fro m  a  p u b lic  office 
e x p e n s e  t e rm  a c c o u n t e s ta b l i s h e d  u n d e r  A S  15.13 116(a)(8) a n d  a ll a m o u n t s  e x p e n d e d  
from  a  m u n ic ip a l  o ffice  a e c o t ’. u n d e r  A S  15.13.116(a)(9), o r  w h o  i e x p e n d i tu r e s  w e re  n o t 
m ad e  o r  c o n t r ib u t io n s  w e re  n o t  re c e iv e d  d u r in g  th e  p re v io u s  y e a r .

(b) E a c h  c o n t r ib u t io n  t h a t  e x c e e d s  $250 a n d  h a t  is  m a d e  w i th in  n in e  d a y s  o f  th e  
e le c tio n  s h a l l  b e  r e p o r t e d  to  t h e  c o m m is s io n  by d a te ,  a m o u n t,  a n d  c o n t r ib u to r  w i th in  24 
h o u rs  o f  r e c e ip t  by th e  c a n d id a te ,  g ro u p , c am p a ig n  t r e a s u r e r ,  o r  d e p u ty  c am p a ig n  
t r e a s u r e r .  E a c h  c o n t r ib u t io n  to  a  n o n g r o u p  e n t i t y  fo r t h e  p u rp o s e  o f  in f lu e n c in g  th e  
o u tc o m e  o f a n  e le c tio n  t h a t  e x c e e d s  $250 a n d  t h a t  is  m a d e  w i th in  n in e  d a y s  o f  t h e  e le c tio n  
s h a l l  b e  r e p o r te d  to  t h e  c o m m is s io n  by  d a te ,  a m o u n t,  a n d  c o n t r ib u to r  w i th in  24 h o u r s  o f  
r e c e ip t b y  th e  n o n g ro u p  e n ti ty .

(c) A il re p o r t s  r e q u i r e d  b y  th i s  c h a p t e r  s h a l l  b e  filed  w i th  t h e  c o m m is s io n 's  c e n t r a l  
office a n d  s h a l l  b e  k e p t  o p e n  to  p u b lic  in s p e c tio n . W ith in  30 d a y s  a f t e r  e a c h  e le c tio n , th e  
com m is s io n  s h a h  p r e p a r e  a  s u m m a r y  o f e a c h  r e p o r t  w h ic h  s h a l l  b e  m a d e  a v a i la b le  t,o t h e  
p u b lic  a t  c o s t u p o n  r e q u e s t .  E a c h  s u m m a r y  s h a l l  u s e  u n ifo rm  c a te g o r ie s  o f  r e p o r t in g .

(d) /Repealed § 35 ch 126 SLA 1994. j
(e) A  g ro u p  fo rm e d  to  s p o n s o r  a n  in i t ia t iv e ,  a  r e f e r e n d u m  o r  a  r e c a l l  s h a l l  r e p o r t  30 

d a y s  a f t e r  i t s  f i r s t  f i l in g  w i th  th e  l i e u t e n a n t  g o v e rn o r . T h e r e a f t e r  e a c h  g ro u p  s h a l l  r e p o r t

w i th in  10 d a y s  a f t e r  tl 
e x p e n d i t u r e s  m a d e  d u  
o f  t h i s  s e c t io n .

(f, D u r in g  t h e  y e a r  
t h e  c a m p a ig n  d is c lo su

( 1 ) a  p e r s o n  w h o , u 
15.13.100, in d i c a t e s  a  
le g i s la t iv e  office;

(2) a  p a r s o n  w h o  h i 
b e c o m e  a  c a n d i d a t e  a t

(3) a  p e r s o n  w h o  a 
l e g is la t iv e  o ffice  a t  th i

(4) a  g r o u p  o r  n o n g  
b e h a l f  o f  o r  in  o p p c s i t  
p ro v id e d  fo r  c e r t a i n  lr (8 1 ch  76 S L A  1974; i 
49 S L A  1993; a m  § 35 
a m  §§ 16 —  18 c h  48 
§§ 20 —  22 ch  1 S L A

C r o s s  r e f e r e n c e s .  —  F
enacting subsection ‘ f>. see 
the T em pora ry  and S |iec ia l

E f fe c t  o f  a m e n d m e n ts .
effective August 29, 1995, a

The first 1S96 amendmet 
substitu ted "p rim a ry "  fo r
(0(21,

The second 19?)6 am codi 
1997, in  subsection (a>, insi 
coble, o i l am oun ts expende 
account estab lished under . 
am ounts expended from  a 
under AS 1 5 .1 3 . i l Hialt 10 >. 
and. in subsection ic». d'*l< 
tence which read  “ the r>po 
filed w ith  the com m ission ’s i 
“ sh a ll be filed w ith the  a  
and .”

The 199S am endm ent, ef 
'titn ted  “ a pub lic office exp 
leg is la tive office account" at 
ence sub s titu tion s in parag

The 2001 am endm ent, e f  
su tu red  “ gene ra l e lection ” 
parag raph  (f) (2 i .

D i s c lo s u r e  r e q u i r e m e
f i le  d isc losu re requirem en 
uncon stitu tiona lly  vague o 
v io la te the constitu tiona l i 
vacy. V EC O  In t i ,  Inc. v. A ll

S e c .  15.13.112. U s
(a) E x c e p t  a s  o th e rw i  
m a y  b e  u s e d  o n ly  to  
e x p e n s e s  i n c u r r e d  b y  t 
a c t iv i t ie s ,  a n d  in  t h u s  

(b) C a m p a ig n  c o n t i  (11 u s e d  to  g iv e  a  p
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■ \, r. billboard or sign: or
<ii p r i n t e d  m a te r i a l ,  o th e r  t h a n  a n  a d v e r t i s e m e n t  m a d e  <n a  n e w s p a p e r  o r  o th e r

ptri'HiiCal;
\2) u s in g  a  f ic t i t io u s  u u m e  o r  u s in g  th e  n a m e  o f  a n o th e r .  '§  14 c h  48 SL A  19W6; am  

t) 17 c h  1 S L A  20(12}

E ffe c t o l a m e n d m e n ts . -  Tin* '2002 am endm ent,
,>tTi ctiv. A pril 16, 2002, in  p a r a g ra p h  1 1> in s e r te d  "or 
nmlp r o jp  e n t i ty ” in  s u b p a ra g r a p h  i A I.

S ec . 15.13.086. A u t h o r i z e d  m a k e r s  o f  e x p e n d i t u r e s .  A n  e x p e n d i tu r e
(1) a u th o r i z e d  by o r  in  b e h a l f  o f  a  c a n d id a t e  m a y  b e  m a d e  o n ly  by 
(A) th e  c a n d id a te :  o r
(B> th e  c a n d id a te 's  c a m p a ig n  t r e a s u r e r  o r  a  d e p u ty  c a m p a ig n  t r e a s u r e r :
,2) a u th o r i z e d  b y  A S  15.13.067(3) by  o r  in  b e h a l f  o f  a  g ro u p  m uy  b e  m a d e  o n ly  by  th e  

to up's c a m p a ig n  t r e a s u r e r .  <§ 14 ch  48 S L A  1996)

Sec. 15.13.090. I d e n t i f i c a t i o n  o f  c o m m u n i c a t i o n ,  (at A ll c o m m u n ic a t io n s  s h a l l  b e  
clearly id e n t i f ie d  by  t h e  w o rd s  “p a id  fo r b y ” fo llow ed  by  th e  n a m e  a n d  a d d r e s s  o f  t h e  
candidate, g ro u p , n o n g r o u p  e n ti ty ,  o r in d iv id u a l  p a y in g  fo r t h e  c o m m u n ic a t io n .  In  
addition, c a n d id a te s  a n d  g r o u p s  m a y  id e n t i f y  th e  n a m e  o f  t h e i r  c a m p a ig n  c h a i rp e r s o n ,  

bi T h e  p ro v is io n s  o f  (a) o f  t h i s  s e c t io n  do  n o t a p p ly  w h e n  th e  c o m m u n ic a t io n  
li is p a id  fo r b y  a n  in d iv id u a l  a c t i n g  in d e p e n d e n t ly  o f  a n y  g ro u p  o r  n o n g r o u p  e n t i ty  

and in d e p e n d e n tly  o f  a n y  o t h e r  in d iv id u a l;
(2) is m a d e  to  in f lu e n c e  t h e  o u t - o f  a  b a l io t  p ro p o s i t io n  a s  t h a t  t e r m  is  d e f in e d  by 

AS 15.13.065(c): a n d
'3) is m ad e  foi 
iA) a b il lb o a rd  o r  s ig n ;  o r
Bt p r in te d  m a . j r i a l  o th e r  t h a n  a n  a d v e r t i s e m e n t  m a d e  in  a  n e w s p a p e r  o r  o th e r  

oeriodical. (§ 1 c h  76 SL A  1974; a m  § 22 ch  189 SLA  1975; a m  § 36 ch  100 S L A  1980; a m  
i 15 ch 48 SLA  1996: a m  §§ 18, 19 ch  1 SL A  2002; a m  § 5 ch  1 T S S L A  2002)

Rt'visor's notes. — In 2000 . “ chairperson " was 
•/-muted for "cha irm an ” in >.u o f  th is  sec*.ion in 
. rdunce with sec 9 5 (3 ). ch K2, SLA  2000  
Effect of amendments. The 1996 amendment, 
vctue Jur.unry ;o 9 7 . added subsection ihi.
Tv first 2002 amendment, e ffective A p ril 16. 2002 . 
■itsrction (u ) and parag raph  tliH I inserted refer- 

•vf, to nonproup entities.
Tv second 2002 amendm ent, effective June  26 .

• ■’C rewrote subsection uu and substitu ted  "cornniu-
’■lon for “advertisement" in the in troducto ry  lan -

• o f subsection I
Ed itors n o te s . —  . ro in  A p ril It!, 2 0 0 2  through 
••■' - ’), 2002, this section rend at. fo l'ow s: “ ld en tifi- 

communication, (a ) A ll adve rtisem ents , fiill- 
handbills, paid-for te levision and r udio an- 

~<*-nients. and other communications intended to 
. id- the election o f  u cand idate o r  outcome o f  a 

or question sh a ll la- c le a rly  identi- 
“  'Vf)rds "paid fo r by’  fo llowed by the name

and address o f the candidate, group, nongroup entity, 
o r  ind iv idua l paying fo r the adve rtis ing . In  ddition, 
candidates and g roups must iden tify  the  name o f  then 
campaign chairperson .

“ i hi The provisions o f  ta ) o f th is section do not app ly 
when the advertisem ent 

*<l.i is paid fo r by an ind iv idua l acting indepen­
den tly  o f  any group o r  nongroup en tity  and indepen­
den tly  o f any o ther ind iv idua l;

“ i 2 ) is made to in fluence the outcome o f  a ba llo t 
proposition as that term  is defined by AS 15 1.3,066icl; 
and

" (3 ) is made tor
“ (A ' a b illboard o r  sign ; or
’ <Bt printed m a te ria l o ther than an advertisem ent 

made in a nev -paper o r  othei period ica l.”
C o l la t e r a l r e fe re n c e s . — V a lid ity  and construc­

tion o f  state sta tu te  p roh ib iting  anonymous: po litica l 
tdvertising. 4 ALR  lth  741.

Sec 1*t • *3.13.095. F a l s e  s t a t e m e n t s  i n  t e l e p h o n e  p o l l i n g  a n d  c a l l s  t o  c o n v i n c e .
^ , (. Can‘l'dcite w ho is  d a m a g e d  a s  t h e  r e s u l t  o f  a  fa ls e  s t a t e m e n t  a b o u t  th e  c a n d id a t e  
**w know ledge t h a t  it w a s  fa ls e , o r w i t h  r e c k le s s  d i s r e g a r d  fo r w h e th e r  i t w a s  fa ls e  
*htt ilS lla r l r“  a  *-«lephone po ll o r a n  o rg a n iz e d  s e r ie s  o f  c a lls ,  a n d  m a d e  w i th  t h e  

c°nvince p o te n t ia l  v o te r s  c o n c e rn in g  th e  o u tc o m e  o f a n  e le c tio n  in  w h ic h  th e




